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I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Facebook provides game developers two distinct services:  distribution of their games on 

Facebook.com and access to a “social graph” (a network of connections among users) that can 

enable gameplay and generate interest by sharing game information with friends.  Facebook has 

long made access to its social graph available—for free—to developers for use on 

Facebook.com, other websites, and on mobile devices.  Facebook did not charge developers for 

distribution services when it first launched its platform in May 2007—a point in time when 

Facebook had approximately 20 million users, the game developer ecosystem was nascent, other 

platforms (like Apple iOS) also were just emerging, and in-game (or “in-app”) purchases of 

virtual goods was a relatively new phenomenon.   

The picture changed dramatically over a few short years:  by 2011, Facebook had grown 

to over 600 million users; the number of games played on Facebook.com had grown 

substantially along with the volume of in-game transactions; and Facebook had significantly 

ramped up its support for users and developers alike.  As activity on Facebook.com grew, 

Facebook saw the emergence of new challenges and threats to the quality of the user experience.  

For example, developers were “spamming” users with unwanted notices, and users were 

engaging in financial transactions subject to mistakes, confusion, or fraud.  As Facebook was 

learning how best to balance the interests of users and developers on its platform, other 

platforms—particularly on mobile devices—had launched and were flourishing.    

In the context of these developments, Facebook made three decisions related to games 

played on Facebook.com that form the crux of this litigation:   

(i) developers had to use Facebook’s back-end payment services to 
process in-app purchases by users in their games, which Facebook 
believed would enhance and protect the user experience;  
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(ii) developers had to use an approved provider for certain types of 
offer ads that implicated fraud and privacy concerns; and  

(iii) in return for the distribution and other valuable services and 
support provided by Facebook, developers had to share 30% of 
their revenue from in-game purchases and offer ads.   

Plaintiff is an entity that owns certain legal claims of a company called Super Rewards, 

which provides payment-related services to game developers.  Plaintiff claims that Facebook’s 

decisions amount to a violation of the antitrust laws by preventing Plaintiff from offering 

payment services and offer ads to social game developers.  But that ignores several critical and 

undisputed facts:  (1) Facebook’s decisions applied only to games distributed on Facebook.com 

(not other sites or platforms); (2) when played on other platforms, games (including the same 

games also available on Facebook.com) can obtain payment-related services from other 

companies while accessing Facebook’s social graph for free; and (3) the vast majority of social 

gaming activity (and payment-related activity) occurs on platforms other than Facebook.com.  

As a result, Plaintiff cannot sustain its antitrust claims. 

II. NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS 

Social Ranger, LLC (“Social Ranger”) asserts claims against Facebook, Inc. 

(“Facebook”) for monopolization, attempted monopolization, and illegal tying in violation of the 

Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1-2.  D.I. 1 ¶¶ 125, 153, 170.  Following fact and expert discovery, 

Facebook moves for judgment in its favor as to the entirety of Plaintiff’s claims.  A companion 

motion for summary judgment addresses Plaintiff’s claim for injunctive relief.   

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The social gaming industry is—and has been—a vibrant competitive world in which 

games are distributed on various platforms and use payment-related services provided by 
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numerous providers other than Facebook, including Apple, Google, Amazon, TrialPay, and 

Tapjoy.  Faced with this reality, Plaintiff’s claims fail for several reasons. 

First, Social Ranger’s Section 2 claims fail because Social Ranger improperly limits the 

alleged “relevant market” to “virtual currency services” provided only when a user accesses a 

social game through Facebook.com.  But developers distribute their social games on other 

platforms, including Apple iOS’s and Google Android’s mobile platforms, and use other 

payment processing and offer ad services.  Yet Plaintiff improperly excludes the same payment 

and offer ad services provided to the same developers distributing the same social games through 

these other platforms.1  There is no plausible basis for artificially limiting the relevant market in 

this way.     

The vast majority of social game activity and the related virtual currency services (more 

than 85%) take place on these other distribution platforms (e.g., Apple iOS, Google Android, 

Amazon, King.com, Steam, Kongregate), and not on Facebook.com.  Facebook’s July 2011 

Policy does not apply to these platforms, where other companies (including Apple and Google) 

provide the virtual currency services.  As a matter of law, Facebook cannot have monopolized—

and is not threatening to monopolize—virtual currency services for social games when it has a 

share of less than 15%. 

Second, none of the conduct at issue—charging a 30% revenue share, vertically 

integrating into payments services, and requiring use of trusted offer ad providers—is 

anticompetitive.  Contemporaneous, undisputed evidence confirms the legitimate business 

                                                 
1 While the “virtual currency services” that Super Rewards offers are used by almost every free-
to-play game regardless of whether it is a “social” game, the Court may grant summary judgment 
without deciding whether Plaintiff’s limitation to social games is appropriate. 
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reasons for these policies: improving the user experience while monetizing to enable future 

investment in its platform.       

Third, Plaintiff’s tying claim fails for two reasons.  First, Plaintiff contends that Facebook 

has market power in a tying product because game developers must access its social graph to 

succeed and Facebook allegedly tied such access to its payment services.  This is simply wrong.  

Facebook provides game developers access to its social graph for free on other platforms.  Thus, 

Facebook has not tied anything to access to its social graph.  Second, Facebook lacks market 

power in the distribution of social games because only a small portion of social game activity 

and less than 15% of in-game transactions occur on Facebook.com.     

Fourth, Plaintiff fails to show harm to competition in a relevant market as a whole for 

two reasons.  Facebook’s Platform is a two-sided marketplace connecting users and developers, 

and Plaintiff focuses on alleged harm to developers without consideration of benefits to users.  

Further, Plaintiff bases its claims on asserted harm to its own business but fails to establish harm 

to competition in the provision of virtual currency services for social games.  

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Virtual Currency Services for Social Games 

Facebook.com is one of many platforms available to developers to distribute free-to-play 

games.  These games generate revenue (i.e. are “monetized”) primarily through “in-app 

purchases”—in-game purchases of virtual currency that can be used to purchase virtual goods 

and other advantages in the game.  See Decl. of Anne Y. Lee in Support of Motion for Summary 

Judgment, Ex. 2, ¶ 40 (hereinafter “Crook”).2  Some free-to-play games also monetize through 

                                                 
2 Subsequent citations to “Ex.” refer to exhibits to the Lee Declaration. 
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advertising, including “offer ads” that allow the users to earn virtual goods or virtual currency by 

engaging with a third-party advertisement (e.g., taking a survey or watching a video).  Id. ¶ 58. 

Many web-based and mobile-based platforms distribute free-to-play games.  See Crook 

¶¶ 78, 148-50, App’x 3.  In fact, mobile platforms like iOS and Android have grown 

tremendously since they began supporting in-app purchases in October 2009 and February 2011, 

respectively.  See Crook ¶¶ 97-98, 100-01, 105-06; see also Ex. 8, at 171-73.   

Games that enable in-app purchases require payment-processing services.  Crook  ¶ 48.  

These services serve the same function on each platform—turning real currency (e.g., credit 

cards) into virtual currency that can be used within the game.  Id.  Game developers can provide 

these services directly or utilize a third-party to do so.  Today, most platforms provide payment-

processing as part of their platform services.  See Crook ¶ 49 & App’x 3.  Facebook currently 

accounts for less than 15% of the payment-related services to free-to-play games distributed on 

the Facebook, iOS, and Android platforms.  See Ex. 1, Tbl. 1 (hereinafter “Carlton”). 

Many games on Facebook.com are also distributed on other platforms, including iOS and 

Android.  See, e.g., Crook ¶ 78 & Tbl. 1; see also Ex. 45.  Some game developers forgo 

distributing games on Facebook.com entirely to focus on other platforms.  See, e.g., Crook ¶¶ 83, 

101; Ex. 21; Ex. 37 (developers “are choosing to publish games [on Kongregate] in addition to 

(or in some cases instead of) us”); see also Ex. 25 (February 2011 email from Super Rewards 

employee: if Facebook “slow[s] down the developer ecosystem too much . . . it risk[s] pushing 

the developer community into the arms of Google’s Android platform.”); Ex. 9, at 106-07. 

Game developers often use a player’s social graph to let them play games with friends 

and/or share information about the game.  Facebook lets developers access its social graph 

through Facebook Login (formerly “Facebook Connect”) and other tools when distributing their 
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games on other platforms, including iOS and Android.  See, e.g., Ex. 33; Ex. 55-56; Ex. 3, at 

271-274.  Facebook Login lets users on other sites or platforms invite their Facebook friends to 

play, post game-related status updates on Facebook.com, and compare scores with Facebook 

friends, among other things.  See Crook  ¶¶ 67-68 & Figs. 6, 15; Ex. 5, at 172-73, 230.  Games 

on mobile and other platforms can also utilize other social graphs, such as email contacts 

(including Google, Yahoo, AOL, or MSN), phone contacts, and Twitter connections.  See Crook  

¶¶ 70, 73-75, Figs. 16-18; Waldron Reply ¶ 97; Ex. 35. 

B.  Launch of the Facebook Platform and Evolution of Facebook’s Policies 

In May 2007, Facebook launched a distribution platform that allowed developers to make 

their games accessible to users directly on Facebook.com.  The Facebook.com platform 

experienced rapid growth with free-to-play games becoming one of the most popular types of 

applications.  See Ex. 6, at 88-89.  Several third-party providers, including Super Rewards, 

sought to help developers monetize their apps and facilitate payment processing.  But the growth 

of these services also gave rise to improper practices that created user confusion and harmed 

users’ experiences on the platform and the reputation of the Facebook platform itself.  See Ex. 6, 

at 123-24; Ex. 7, at 210-11; Ex. 4, at 198-99. 

For instance, in 2009, user complaints led to a series of negative articles—including 

“Scamville: The Social Gaming Ecosystem of Hell”—that blamed Facebook for not protecting 

users from deceptive offer ads by Super Rewards and other offer ad providers.  See Ex. 16; Ex 

18; Ex. 17 (“Facebook will either clean things up or become a MySpace . . . .”).  In 2010, another 

press account highlighted what it dubbed Super Rewards’ “Evil Dial,” a tool that allowed 
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 7 

developers to generate more revenue by running higher margin, but less trustworthy ads that 

increased risks to users.3  Ex. 20; see also Ex. 43. 

Facebook also learned that some developers and virtual currency service providers 

(including Super Rewards) were misusing Facebook user information, for instance, by selling it 

to third parties without user consent.  See Ex. 19; Ex. 53 (Super Rewards arranging to provide a  

data aggregator (Rapleaf) with Facebook user information); Ex. 40; Ex. 7, at 210.   

Facebook also received many user complaints about in-app purchases that it could not 

resolve because the game developer (or a third party to which it had outsourced this service) 

processed the payment transaction, not Facebook.  Ex. 6, at 35, 46, 122-23; Ex. 4, at 86-87, 193; 

Ex. 18; Ex. 32; Ex. 30; see also Ex. 8, at 267.  Users sometimes mistakenly blamed Facebook for 

these issues because the purchases occurred on Facebook.  Facebook had no ability to address 

them directly, much less improve the user payment experience.  Id.   

As its platform evolved, Facebook determined that incorporating payment services would 

protect users and enhance their experience.  As Apple demonstrated when it launched the App 

Store in 2008 and began facilitating in-app purchases in 2009, decreasing payment friction and 

allowing users to store payment credentials for all purchases across apps made the user 

experience simpler, more consistent and reliable, and could increase the number of users 

completing transactions (“conversions”).  See Ex. 3, at 112-13, 187-88; Ex. 7, at 124-25; Ex. 24; 

Crook ¶ 138; Ex. 52; Ex. 6, at 29-31, 121-23, 142-47; Ex. 10, at 56-57; Ex. 8, at 261-62, 265 

(“Reducing payment friction is a benefit for both users and developers.”); Ex. 12, at 100-101; 

                                                 
3 For example, one scam offered players free in-game currency for signing up to receive a 
learning CD for only $10 in shipping.  The company would then ship multiple CDs and bill the 
player $189.95 unless the unrequested CDs were returned immediately.  Just days before the 
Scamville story broke, Facebook discovered that Super Rewards had been serving this particular 
“Video Professor” scam.  Ex. 4, at 133-37; see also Ex. 16. 
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Ex. 31; Ex. 32; Ex. 41.  Having a trusted brand for processing payments also made users more 

comfortable providing financial information.  See Ex. 47 (Super Rewards employee; “there are a 

fair number of users that are not comfortable giving their credit card to a facebook application 

but would be fine with providing it to facebook.”); Ex. 10, at 57-58; Ex. 12, at 30, 100.  And, 

Facebook could address users’ payment issues and use that information to improve user 

experience generally.  Id.   

Around this time, Facebook began discussing with developers its desire to begin sharing 

in the revenue generated by in-app purchases and offer ads on Facebook.com.  Previously, 

Facebook had not charged developers for distribution services provided on Facebook.com.  

Facebook believed revenue sharing would better enable it to recover its investment in developing 

the platform and make further investments benefitting both users and developers, including a 

more technically stable platform and better “customer” support.4  Many developers recognized 

that this would align incentives and encourage continued investment in the Platform.  See Ex. 30; 

Ex. 6, at 146-47, 303-04; Ex. 7, at 201-02, 222-26; Ex. 44, at 8.5  

C. Facebook’s July 2011 Payments Policy 

Facebook announced in January 2011 that it was implementing new policies effective 

July 2011 that included three relevant changes.  Ex. 14.  First, all in-app transactions on 

                                                 
4 Facebook reserved the right to charge for its services when it launched its platform.  See Ex. 13 
(2007 Terms of Service).  Thus, developers knew that Facebook might charge for its platform 
services, including by adopting the Apple iOS revenue share model.  See Ex. 6, at 76-77; see 
also Ex. 34.   
5 Facebook’s discussions included negotiation of several bilateral agreements with developers 
that addressed a range of issues, such as performance levels for the Platform, use of Facebook’s 
payment processing, a revenue share, and Facebook’s own in-game currency (discussed below).  
See, e.g., Ex. 12, at 30. 
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Facebook.com would utilize Facebook’s payment processing services.  Ex. 15.6  Notably, this 

requirement did not apply to transactions processed on any other platform—even for those 

games that utilize Facebook’s social graph through Login.  Id.; see also Ex. 26; Ex. 34.  Second, 

all offer ads on Facebook.com (1) offering virtual currency or (2) seeking personally identifiable 

information would have to use a Facebook-approved provider.7  After a competitive bidding 

process in which Super Rewards participated, Facebook selected Trial Pay as a non-exclusive 

approved provider.  Ex. 27 (comprehensive evaluation of offer providers in which Super 

Rewards scored at the bottom); Ex. 28; Ex. 4, at 199-200; see also Ex. 29. Facebook later also 

approved SuperSonic Ads and Deal United.  See Ex. 3, at 219-20; Ex. 11, at 128.   

Third, Facebook implemented a 30% revenue share for transactions completed on 

Facebook.com—as compensation for use of its distribution (and other) services, including 

payment processing and offer ad services.  See Ex. 30; Crook ¶¶ 140-42; Ex. 6, at 163; Ex. 12, at 

97.  Facebook charged the same rate for distribution and payment processing services as Apple 

and Google.  See, e.g., Ex. 23; Ex. 6, at 138; Crook ¶ 142.  Indeed, it is the same rate charged by 

nearly all game platforms today.  See Crook ¶¶ 141-43 & App’x 3.  While Facebook initially 

considered using a higher rate, some developers objected to paying more than what they were 

paying to Apple.  See Ex. 22; see also Ex. 3, at 155-57; Ex. 8, at 240-42. 

                                                 
6 “Facebook Credits” has been used to refer to both Facebook’s payment processing services and 
its in-game virtual currency (discussed infra).  The July 2011 Policy applied only to payment 
processing; Facebook never mandated the use of its in-game currency  See Ex. 26.  Today, 
Facebook’s payment processing services are called “Facebook Payments,” and the in-game 
virtual currency called “Credits” was phased out starting in 2012.  See Ex. 60. 
7 The policy did not affect incentivized ads that provided virtual goods (rather than currency) and 
did not require personal information.  See Ex. 26.  And non-approved providers remained able to 
provide their offer ad inventories through approved providers as long as the ads complied with 
Facebook’s advertising policies.  See Ex. 11, at 130. 
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In addition, between 2009 and 2011, Facebook launched a product called “Facebook 

Credits”—an in-game currency to encourage more users to engage in more transactions across 

more games across Facebook.com.  See Ex. 7, at 124; see also Ex. 52.  Developers, however, 

pushed back on using Credits, see, e.g., Ex. 36; Ex. 6, at 227, and only a few ever used Credits as 

an in-game currency.  Facebook never mandated its use and phased it out starting in 2012.  See 

supra note 6.   

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Relevant Legal Standards 

A motion for summary judgment should be granted if “there is no genuine dispute as to 

any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 

56(a).  To defeat a motion for summary judgment, “the non-moving party must present more 

than a mere scintilla of evidence; there must be evidence on which the jury could reasonably find 

for the [non-movant].”  Jakimas v. Hoffmann-La Roche, Inc., 485 F.3d 770, 777 (3d Cir. 2007).8   

In an antitrust case, a “plaintiff must produce economically plausible evidence supporting 

the elements of its claim.”  Harrison Aire, Inc. v. Aerostar Int’l, Inc., 423 F.3d 374, 380 (3d Cir. 

2005).  A plaintiff asserting a Section 2 claim must “produce evidence of a relevant product 

market, of the alleged monopolist’s dominant share of that market, and of high barriers to entry.”  

Id. at 381.  The relevant market must include all reasonably interchangeable alternatives put to 

the same use.  Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 294, 325 (1962); Allen-Myland, Inc. v. 

Int’l Bus. Mach. Corp., 33 F.3d 194, 206 (3d Cir. 1994).  A plaintiff also must establish that the 

defendant acquired or maintained monopoly power improperly.  Verizon Commc’ns Inc. v. Law 

Offices of Curtis V. Trinko, LLP, 540 U.S. 398, 407 (2004) (“To safeguard the incentive to 

                                                 
8 Unless otherwise noted, all emphasis is added, and citations and internal quotations are omitted. 
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innovate, the possession of monopoly power will not be found unlawful unless it is accompanied 

by an element of anticompetitive conduct.”).   

Here, Plaintiff cannot establish a Section 2 claim because it cannot show that Facebook: 

(i) has monopoly power, or a threat of monopoly power, in any plausible market for virtual 

currency services; (ii) engaged in any improper conduct; or (iii) acquired or maintained 

monopoly power through the challenged conduct.  Plaintiff’s tying claim fails because (i) 

Facebook makes its social graph available for free (without its payments-related services) to 

developers for use on other distribution platforms; and (ii) Facebook has no market power in 

game distribution services—given the volume of social games distributed on mobile platforms. 

B. Plaintiff’s Monopolization Claims Fail Because Facebook’s Share of 
Payment-Related Services in any Plausible Relevant Market Is Less Than 
15%  

To survive summary judgment on its First and Second Causes of Action, Plaintiff must 

establish a plausible relevant market in which Facebook has unlawfully acquired (or threatened 

to acquire) monopoly power.  See Broadcom Corp. v. Qualcomm Inc., 501 F.3d 297, 306–07 (3d 

Cir. 2007).  Social Ranger claims Facebook unlawfully monopolized a “virtual currency 

services” market, which it limits to “‘Virtual-Currency Services’ [provided] to social-game 

developers that develop games for the Social-Game Network market.”  Compl. ¶ 29.  It further 

claims that, today, the only games in its relevant market are those on Facebook.com.  See Frankel 

Op. ¶ 150.  But the evidence does not support this artificially narrow market definition, and 

Facebook’s share of any plausible relevant market is insufficient to support a Section 2 claim. 

1. The Relevant Market Must Include Virtual Currency Services Provided to 
Social Game Developers on Other Distribution Platforms. 

Plaintiff alleges but has not produced any evidence that demand for its so-called virtual 

currency services is limited to game developers distributing their games on Facebook.com.  To 
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the contrary, the uncontroverted evidence demonstrates that any game (or application) that 

allows players to buy or earn virtual currency uses such services, regardless of the distribution 

platform.  Most free-to-play games rely on these payment-related services for monetization, and 

those games are distributed on various platforms outside of Facebook.com, including mobile 

platforms (e.g., iOS, Android), standalone websites (e.g., King.com), game portals (e.g., Steam 

and Kongregate), and game consoles (e.g., PlayStation, Xbox).  See Crook ¶¶ 78, 148-50, App’x 

3; Ex. 45.  Plaintiff offers no evidence or reasonable justification as to why the same payment-

related services for games distributed through these other platforms—often the same games 

available on Facebook.com—are not within the relevant market for virtual currency services.9  

Plaintiff “cannot simply gerrymander markets, without supporting facts, where it deems it 

advantageous.”  Int’l Constr. Prod. LLC v. Caterpillar Inc., No. CV 15-108-RGA, 2016 WL 

264909, at *8 (D. Del. Jan. 21, 2016). 

In Town Sound & Custom Tops, Inc. v. Chrysler Motors Corp., the Third Circuit 

dismissed as a matter of law an alleged relevant market limited to Chrysler cars because “such a 

narrow definition makes no sense in terms of real world economics.”  959 F.2d 468, 479 (3d Cir. 

1992).  Likewise here, it makes no economic sense to limit the relevant market to payments-

related services for games accessed on Facebook.com while excluding the payments-related 

services to the same games when accessed through the iOS and Android platforms.      

Candy Crush Saga, one of the most successful social games, is a useful example.  King, 

the game developer, distributes Candy Crush Saga on Facebook.com, King.com (its standalone 

website), iOS, Google Play, Amazon, and Windows.  Users can continue playing the same game 

                                                 
9 Tellingly, Super Rewards marketed its virtual currency for games on these alternative 
platforms, including on mobile devices.  See Ex. 45; Ex. 51; Ex. 42; Ex. 44; Ex. 34; Ex. 49; Ex. 
43; Ex. 57, at 68-70; see also Ex. 58, at 54-57, 78, 137, 149-50.  
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and carry in-app purchases across platforms and devices.  See Crook ¶ 30 & Fig. 7; Ex. 5, at 331.  

For example, a player can start playing on her Android phone, resume play on Facebook.com, 

and then resume the same game on an Apple iPad.  Id.  While King uses payment processing 

services on each platform, it only uses Facebook’s services on Facebook.com.  Everywhere else, 

it uses that platform’s payment processing services or contracts with third parties.   

Candy Crush Saga is but one example.10  Of the top 20 grossing free-to-play games on 

Facebook.com today, 18 are also distributed on Apple’s iOS and Google’s Android platforms.  

See Carlton Tbl. 4.  Importantly, Apple and Google account for over two-thirds of the total in-

app revenue from those top 20 games.  Carlton ¶ 80.  Even back in 2011, over half of the top ten 

recommended games on Facebook.com were or later became available on mobile platforms.  See 

Ex. 9, at 143.   

Nevertheless, Plaintiff asserts that the virtual currency services provided to game 

developers like King are in the relevant market when a user makes a purchase while playing on 

Facebook.com but are out of the relevant market when the same player makes an in-game 

purchase for the same game on her mobile device.  This contorted market definition defies 

common—and economic—sense.  See Town Sound, 959 F.2d at 479. 

This is particularly true since Apple iOS and Google Android were feasible alternatives 

for distribution and payment processing in 2010 and 2011, and today are more successful social 

game distribution platforms than Facebook.com.  See supra at 3, 5.  Plaintiff’s exclusion of 

virtual currency services provided to social games on the iOS and Android platforms renders its 

relevant market insufficient as a matter of law.  See Queen City Pizza, Inc. v. Domino’s Pizza, 

                                                 
10 See also Ex. 35 (example of the same free-to-play game “Top Eleven” offered on 
Facebook.com, iOS, and a standalone website—each with payment processing and offer ads 
enabled). 
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Inc., 124 F.3d 430, 436 (3d Cir. 1997); URL Pharma, Inc. v. Reckitt Benckiser, Inc., No. CV 15-

505, 2015 WL 5042911, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 25, 2015) (“A market definition must look at all 

relevant sources of supply, either actual rivals or eager potential entrants to the market.”).   

2. Plaintiff Cannot Support Its Artificially Narrow Market Definition 

Plaintiff’s arguments for limiting the relevant market for virtual currency services to 

transactions on Facebook.com are entirely unsupported by the record.  Plaintiff cannot exclude 

virtual currency services provided to games on iOS and Android by asserting that these are not 

“social” games for at least two reasons.   

First, game developers who distribute their games on iOS and Android require payment 

processing services and offer ads to facilitate in-game transactions regardless of whether the 

games are “social” under Plaintiff’s definition.    

Second, Social Ranger offers no evidence, and there is no reasonable basis to conclude, 

that games played on iOS or Android are not “social” when they are being played on a mobile 

device, but are “social” when played on Facebook.com.  Indeed, games distributed on mobile 

(and other) platforms often have access to multiple social graphs, including Facebook’s social 

graph through Facebook Login, a user’s email contacts (e.g., through Google, Yahoo, MSN, 

and/or AOL), phone contacts, and Twitter connections.  See supra at 6.  Plaintiff’s expert, Dr. 

Frankel, concedes that “social games” exist on mobile platforms and enable users to access 

social graphs provided by Facebook and others.  Ex. 8, at 75-76; Frankel Op. ¶ 164.  So, games 

accessed on mobile platforms, like games on Facebook.com, have access to a social graph.   

Super Rewards’ own customers demonstrate the artificial nature of Plaintiff’s market 

definition:  Super Rewards and other virtual currency service providers marketed and provided 

payment processing and offer ad services to game developers on mobile and other game 

platforms—not just to developers distributing their games on Facebook.com.  See supra note 9; 
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infra at 34.11  Even if Super Rewards chose to focus on games accessed on Facebook.com, that 

decision does not define the relevant market for antitrust purposes.  See Spectrofuge Corp. v. 

Beckman Instruments, Inc., 575 F.2d 256, 282–83 (5th Cir. 1978) (“The fact that a company 

limits its competitive activity to a single firm’s products (and at only one competitive level) 

cannot control the definition of the relevant market.”).  And even if Super Rewards had to tweak 

its services to work with the various platforms, the virtual currency services it and others offer 

across all these platforms must be included in any plausibly defined relevant market.  See, e.g., 

Rebel Oil Co., Inc. v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 51 F.3d 1421, 1436 (9th Cir. 1995) (including full- 

and self-service gasoline stations in same relevant market).   

Nor can Plaintiff narrow the relevant market through their expert’s discussion of the 

alleged “anti-steering” policies that supposedly limited the ability of developers to promote 

gaming activity on non-Facebook platforms.  As discussed in Facebook’s companion Daubert 

motion, Dr. Frankel did not conduct any analyses to determine what effect, if any, these policies 

had on game developers’ ability to shift game activity to other distribution platforms.  See 

Motion To Exclude Expert Testimony of Mr. Alan S. Frankel, at 3 (“Frankel Daubert”).  The 

real-world evidence shows that in-game transactions on mobile platforms grew much faster than 

on Facebook despite the existence of these alleged “anti-steering” policies.  Id. at 4.  Further, 

these policies relate only to competition between Facebook.com and other platforms for game 

                                                 
11 To the extent that Apple and Google do not permit Super Rewards to sell its payment 
processing services for games on iOS and Android, those are independent decisions by Apple 
and Google that are not attributable to Facebook.   
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distribution services.  They do not affect the ability of a virtual-currency services provider to sell 

virtual currency services to games accessed through any other platform.12     

In Elliott v. United Center, 126 F.3d 1003 (7th Cir. 1997), the Seventh Circuit rejected a 

similar attempt to narrow the relevant market.  The plaintiff, a peanut vendor, challenged a 

United Center policy prohibiting patrons from bringing food into the arena.  The plaintiff lost 

sales and claimed that the United Center had used its “monopoly” over live sporting events to 

monopolize “the market for food concessions within and around the United Center.”  Id. at 1005.  

The Seventh Circuit explained that such a narrow relevant market was indefensible: 

The United Center can recoup the cost of putting on the event in 
any of a number of ways.  It can charge very high ticket prices, and 
allow unlimited numbers of food concessions in and around the 
stadium, or it can charge somewhat lower ticket prices and restrict 
the number of concessions (thereby earning some of its profits 
from the food sales).  No one argues that the United Center is 
monopolizing the market for snack food in near west Chicago, 
because such an argument would be ludicrous on its face. . . both 
price and output of peanuts in any geographic area that would be 
meaningful under the antitrust laws (at least Chicago, we presume) 
are totally unaffected by the United Center’s policies. 

Id.  Plaintiff’s effort to limit the relevant market to virtual currency services for games accessed 

on Facebook.com likewise fails.  Facebook’s conduct has not affected the price or output of 

virtual currency services for social games on the mobile or other distribution platforms that 

account for over 85% of such services. 

The Court need not determine the outer boundaries of an appropriate virtual currency 

services market.  Plaintiff’s unsupported attempt to exclude provision of payment-related 

services on the iOS and Android mobile platforms alone is fatal to its claims.  Plaintiff’s 

                                                 
12 Social Ranger—as a virtual currency services provider—also lacks standing to challenge the 
alleged harm to developers from the alleged “anti-steering” policies. 
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exclusion of  these “reasonably interchangeable products” renders its asserted virtual currency 

services market legally insufficient, and the Court can dismiss the First and Second Causes of 

Action on this basis alone.  See, e.g., Queen City Pizza, Inc., 124 F.3d at 436.13 

3. Facebook’s Share of Virtual Currency Services in any Plausible Relevant 
Market Is Insufficient to Support a Monopolization Claim 

Facebook currently has a less than 15% share of all virtual currency transactions in social 

games in a relevant market that appropriately includes at least the Apple iOS and Google 

Android distribution platforms.  See Carlton Tbl. 1.  This share is insufficient as a matter of law 

to support Plaintiff’s monopolization and attempted monopolization claims.  The Third Circuit 

generally “require[s] a plaintiff alleging antitrust injury under Section 2 to show that Defendants 

maintained a market share ‘significantly larger than 55%’ to establish antitrust liability.”  Mylan 

Pharm. Inc. v. Warner Chilcott Pub. Ltd. Co., 838 F.3d 421, 437 (3d Cir. 2016).   

Further, Plaintiff has not and cannot show that Facebook had any durable market power 

or that there are high barriers to entry in the virtual currency services market.  Even if Facebook 

accounted for just under 80% of in-game transactions on Facebook.com, iOS, and Android when 

it implemented the July 2011 Policy, that share was already rapidly diminishing as developers 

were expanding distribution of their games (and thereby their use of virtual currency services) to 
                                                 
13 While the Court need not reach these issues, Plaintiff’s alleged relevant market definition fails 
for two other reasons.  First, it improperly combines payment processing services and offer 
advertising services into a single “cluster market,” even though its experts concede that payment 
processing an offer ads often were not bought together.  See Frankel Reply ¶ 83; Ex. 8, at 101-
02.  See, e.g., Green Country Food Mkt., Inc. v. Bottling Grp., LLC, 371 F.3d 1275, 1284 (10th 
Cir. 2004) (finding no cluster market unless customers “inten[d] to purchase both [products] 
together and the absence of one of those products would cause the customer to go to another 
store to purchase both.”).  Second, Social Ranger improperly limits the market to the United 
States even though virtual currency services—including those offered by Super Rewards—are 
bought and sold internationally.  See Ex. 58, at 100-02; Ex. 59, at 194-97.  “Where, as here, there 
is no indication that a consumer would be unable to purchase a product abroad, the Court will not 
arbitrarily limit the geographic market to the United States.”  Synthes, Inc. v. Emerge Med., Inc., 
No. CIV.A. 11-1566, 2012 WL 4473228, at *7 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 28, 2012).  
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mobile platforms.  Indeed, within two years of the July 2011 Policy, Facebook’s share on these 

three platforms plummeted from over 70% to less than 33%.  See Carlton Tbl. 1.14  “The fact that 

[Facebook’s] share of the market was declining [] belies whatever inference of capacity to 

monopolize that may be drawn from the size of its market share.”  Richter Concrete Corp. v. 

Hilltop Concrete Corp., 691 F. 2d 818, 826 (6th Cir. 1982).  As the Second Circuit held in Tops 

Market v. Quality Markets, Inc., that a competitor “gained such a high market share within such 

a short period” forecloses a genuine issue of material fact as to monopoly power (even where the 

defendant enjoys “over 70-percent market share”).  142 F.3d 90, 99 (2d Cir. 1998); see also 

United States v. Syufy Enters., 903 F.2d 659, 666 (9th Cir. 1990) (decline in market share from 

91% to 39% in three years precluded a finding of monopoly power). 

This dramatic rise of virtual currency transactions in social games on the iOS and 

Android platforms also disproves Plaintiff’s claim that “[s]ignificant entry barriers to the Virtual 

Currency Services market exist.”  Compl. ¶ 133.  As the Supreme Court has explained, a plaintiff 

must demonstrate high barriers to entry in a monopolization claim because “without barriers to 

entry it would presumably be impossible to maintain supracompetitive prices for an extended 

time.”  Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 591 n.15 (1986);  

see also Allen-Myland, Inc. v. Int’l Bus. Mach. Corp., 33 F.3d 194, 209 (3d Cir. 1994).  Here, 

Plaintiff’s claims about barriers to entry in the “virtual currency services market” are flatly 

contradicted by undisputed evidence of actual entry and rapid expansion by iOS and Android, 

among others.  See Carlton Tbl. 1 (collective share of revenue of iOS and Android increased 

approximately 62 percentage points from 2011 to 2015); Frankel Reply Ex. 1 (collective share of 

                                                 
14 Because a properly defined market for virtual currency services must include virtual currency 
services provided for games on all platforms, Facebook’s actual share was even lower since the 
figures in Dr. Carlton’s Table 1 include only the Facebook.com, iOS, and Android platforms.  
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revenue of iOS and Android increased approximately 61 percentage points from 2011 to 2015)]; 

supra at 5; see also, e.g., Barr Labs., Inc. v. Abbott Labs., 978 F.2d 98, 114–15 (3d Cir. 1992) 

(affirming summary judgment on attempted monopolization claim based on evidence of entry by 

new competitors, which “would have prevented [defendant] from raising prices for any lengthy 

period of time”).15 

4. There Is No Direct Evidence of Monopoly Power  

Plaintiff claims that Facebook’s ability to charge “much” more for its services than Super 

Rewards charged demonstrates Facebook’s monopoly power in its alleged virtual currency 

services market.  Compl. ¶ 127.  But that rests on the false premise that Facebook and Super 

Rewards provide the same service, when in fact they offer entirely different services:  Super 

Rewards connected game developers to payment processors and offer ad services; Facebook 

provides a distribution platform, access to its social graph and other platform services, in 

addition to payment processing services and offer ads delivered by trusted partners.  See supra at 

5-6, 8-9; Ex. 12, at 97-98; Ex. 8, at 242-43.16  It is therefore unsurprising that Facebook prices its 

services to compete with other game distribution platforms like Apple, Google, Amazon, Steam, 

Kongregrate, Xbox, and PlayStation, and not with virtual currency services providers like Super 

                                                 
15 Given that developers have alternative distribution platforms, Social Ranger cannot 
demonstrate market power based on any contractual requirements that developers use certain 
services on Facebook.com.  See, e.g., Queen City Pizza, Inc., 124 F.3d at 441 (franchisor 
contractual requirement that franchisee purchase certain products did not create market power 
where franchisee had alternative franchise options); Newcal Indus., Inc. v. Ikon Office Solution, 
513 F.3d 1038, 1048 (9th Cir. 2008) (“[T]he law prohibits an antitrust claimant from resting on 
market power that arises solely from contractual rights that consumers knowingly and voluntarily 
gave to the defendant….”). 
16 As this Circuit has recognized, “when dealing with a heterogeneous product or service ... a 
reasonable finder of fact cannot infer monopoly power just from higher prices.”  Harrison Aire, 
423 F.3d at 381. 

Case 1:14-cv-01525-LPS   Document 258   Filed 02/03/17   Page 26 of 43 PageID #: 7116



 20 

Rewards.  See supra at 9.17  In fact, when Facebook sought a higher revenue percentage, 

developers resisted paying more than the 30% revenue share being charged by Apple and other 

game distribution platforms.  See supra at 9.     

Nor is there any merit to Dr. Frankel’s suggestion that Facebook’s beginning to charge  

for its distribution and related services evidences its market power.  See Frankel Op. ¶ 121.  

Charging a competitive rate for a valuable service that one previously provided for free is not 

evidence of monopoly power.  Carlton ¶ 49; compare Ex. 58, at 320-21.  Further, Dr. Frankel’s 

conclusion rests on his assertion that developers did not steer game activity away from 

Facebook.com, but he concedes that social game activity has shifted away from Facebook.com 

toward mobile platforms, in part due to developers responding to the relative shift in the cost of 

distribution.  See Frankel Daubert, at 4.  A price increase that induces a shift to other suppliers is 

not evidence of market power.18  See Harrison Aire, 423 F.3d at 380.  

C. Plaintiff Cannot Show that Facebook Engaged in Any Improper Conduct 

Section 2 only prohibits the acquisition or maintenance of monopoly power through 

improper means.  See supra at 10 (quoting Trinko, 540 U.S. at 407).  Thus, regardless of how the 

relevant market is defined, and even if plaintiff could show that Facebook had monopoly power 
                                                 
17 Notably, Super Rewards’ fees to developers were not as low as Plaintiff seeks to suggest.  See, 
e.g., Ex. 50 (developer calculated Super Rewards took about a 47.43% cut); Ex. 48 (noting that 
Super Rewards was “running a 20-30% margin (or higher) on many of our pubs with additional 
carrier fees added on as well”); Ex. 58, at 293 (estimating the higher end of Super Rewards’ 
share as 30%); Ex. 46 (noting that Super Rewards’ Social2Web product had “a total of a 30% 
revshare”). 
18  A plaintiff must prove both that the alleged monopolist charged a supracompetitive rate 
(which Plaintiff has not shown given that 30% is the market rate for platform distribution 
services), and that the alleged monopolist had abnormally high price-cost margins and reduced 
output.  See Mylan Pharm. Inc., 838 F.3d at 434 (granting summary judgment where plaintiff’s 
expert reports failed to provide evidence that defendant reduced output or had abnormally high 
price-cost margins).  Dr. Frankel concedes that he has not done any analysis of Facebook’s costs 
in providing the Platform and that Facebook’s output increased after the July 2011 Policy. See 
Ex. 8, at 59, 273.   
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in that market, Plaintiff’s monopolization claim fails because it cannot demonstrate that any of 

Facebook’s conduct—setting a price for use of its platform, vertically integrating into payment 

processing, or partnering with offer ad companies—was improper.   

First, Plaintiff cannot show that the July 2011 Policy enabled Facebook to acquire 

monopoly power in the virtual currency services market, as is required for a Section 2 claim.  See 

Trinko, 540 U.S. at 407; see also Broadcom, 501 F.3d at 308 (“The second element of a 

monopolization claim under § 2 requires the willful acquisition or maintenance of monopoly 

power,” including anticompetitive conduct by the defendant).  

Second, Plaintiff cannot show that Facebook enacted the July 2011 Policy without any 

legitimate justification other than to eliminate competition.  “Put simply, the monopolist’s 

conduct must be irrational but for its anticompetitive effect.”  Novell, Inc. v. Microsoft Corp., 

731 F.3d 1064, 1075 (10th Cir. 2013).  But the undisputed record establishes several legitimate 

business justifications for adopting the July 2011 Policy, entitling Facebook to summary 

judgment.  See Race Tires Am., Inc. v. Hoosier Racing Tire Corp., 614 F.3d 57, 83 (3d Cir. 

2010).19   

1. Facebook’s Decision to Charge a 30% Revenue Share for In-Game 
Transactions on Facebook.com Was Proper 

As plainly stated in its Developer Terms of Service, at the time Facebook launched the 

Platform, see supra note 4, Facebook reserved the right to charge for its distribution platform 

services, which it began doing by way of the July 2011 Policy.  See supra at 8-9.   

                                                 
19 See also Morris Commc’n v. PGA Tour, 364 F.3d 1288 (11th Cir. 2004); City of Vernon v. S. 
Calif. Edison Co., 955 F.2d 1361, 1366–67 (9th Cir. 1992) (“the plaintiff…ultimately has the 
burden of proving that the defendant acted without a legitimate business justification.”). 
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Plaintiff claims that Facebook violated the antitrust laws by charging a fee for a service it 

initially provided for free.  But that is not the law: even firms with monopoly power may charge 

for valuable services they provide.  See Trinko, 540 U.S. at 407 (“The mere possession of 

monopoly power, and the concomitant charging of monopoly prices, is not only not unlawful; it 

is an important element of the free-market system.”).  As Dr. Carlton explains, “a firm’s ability 

to set the price for the services it creates is not a harm to competition but rather the essence of 

competition.”  Carlton ¶ 23.  Furthermore, there is no evidence that the July 2011 Policy harmed 

competition in the alleged virtual currency services market, even if some developers earned less 

as a result.  See Race Tires Am. Inc., 614 F.3d at 75 (“Section 2 is directed against conduct that 

‘unfairly tends to destroy competition itself’”) (quoting Spectrum Sports, Inc. v. McQuillan, 506 

U.S. 447, 458 (1993)).20   

Facebook’s adoption of a 30% revenue share also does not violate the antitrust laws, even 

assuming that Facebook has market power in what Plaintiff calls “social game network” services.  

Plaintiff’s Section 2 claim requires proof that the July 2011 Policy increased Facebook’s power 

in the alleged secondary market for virtual currency services.  An alleged monopolist’s use of its 

power “to gain a competitive advantage in [a] second market” or to “set[] high prices” only 

violates Section 2 where the alleged monopolist “uses its power in the first market to acquire and 

maintain a monopoly in the second market, or to attempt to do so.”  Alaska Airlines, Inc. v. 

United Airlines, Inc., 948 F.2d 536, 548 (9th Cir. 1991) (emphasis added).  There is no evidence 

that requiring a revenue share foreclosed any competition for virtual currency services; therefore, 

the July 2011 Policy could not have created any new market power. 

                                                 
20 Undisputed evidence shows that many game developers benefitted from Facebook’s 
improvements to its Platform.  But whether these changes were a “net benefit” to developers is 
irrelevant to whether Facebook harmed competition in a market for virtual currency services. 
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Facebook’s decision to charge for its services is further supported by legitimate business 

rationales.  Facebook adopted the July 2011 Policy in part to recover its investment in the 

Platform and to enable further improvements.  See supra at 8.  Plaintiff’s expert agrees that 

integrating payment processing services was a practical and efficient means for Facebook to do 

so.  See Ex 8, at 190-92.  The revenue share also aligned Facebook’s incentives with those of its 

developers.  By giving it “skin in the game,” Facebook had a strong incentive to maintain and 

improve the Platform and to provide better support for users and developers, leading to more in-

game transactions on Facebook.com.  See supra at 8. 

2. Facebook’s Decision to Vertically Integrate Payment Processing Into Its 
Core Platform Services Was Proper 

Plaintiff also challenges Facebook’s decision to require game developers to use 

Facebook’s payment processing services for in-game transactions on Facebook.com—i.e., to 

vertically integrate payment processing into the core services provided by its distribution 

platform.  Compl. ¶¶ 100, 106.  But this vertical integration did not harm competition in a market 

for virtual currency services.  Nor can Plaintiff demonstrate that it was motivated solely by an 

anti-competitive purpose.  To the contrary, the undisputed evidence shows that Facebook sought 

to improve the user experience and the quality of its platform.  See supra at 6-8. 

Vertical integration is often efficient and procompetitive.  See Jack Walters & Sons Corp. 

v. Morton Bldg., Inc., 737 F.2d 698, 710 (7th Cir. 1984) (“[V]ertical integration is not an 

improper objective. But this puts the matter too tepidly; vertical integration usually is 

procompetitive.”).  Even assuming that Facebook was a monopolist in “social game network 

services,” its vertical integration did not enable it to gain any additional monopoly power.  

Because “there exists one profit-maximizing monopoly price to the consumer of any given 

product,” a monopolist “will only vertically integrate if it can do the job cheaper than having 
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someone else do it.”  Byars v. Bluff City News Co., 609 F.2d 843, 861 (6th Cir. 1979).  As such, 

vertical integration alone does not violate Section 2.  See, e.g., Becker v. Egypt News Co., 713 

F.2d 363, 366 (8th Cir. 1983) (“Since vertical integration by monopolists can have 

procompetitive effects, a refusal to deal to accomplish this integration, ‘as such without more, 

cannot be held violative of the Sherman Act.’”) (quoting United States v. Columbia Steel Co., 

334 U.S. 495, 525 (1948)); Alberta Gas Chems. Ltd. v. E.I. Du Pont De nemours & Co., 826 

F.2d 1235, 1244–45 (3d Cir. 1987).   

Facebook’s vertical integration also could not harm competition in a virtual currency 

services market, because—as explained above—Facebook has less than 15% of that market.  

Developers can and do use payment processing and offer ad services on other platforms— such 

as the mobile platforms where most in-game transactions occur.  To the extent that Facebook 

does not permit Super Rewards to sell its services for games on Facebook.com, which is just one 

distribution channel, that is not a harm to competition.21   

Facebook’s integration of payment processing into its platform services was also 

motivated by legitimate business considerations to improve the payment experience for its users.  

See supra at 6-8.  Importantly, Facebook undisputedly could have legally charged for its services 

by imposing a fee for all in-game transactions on Facebook.com, regardless of who processed 

those payments.  Doing so would have allowed Facebook to generate similar revenues without 

providing payment processing services.  But instead, Facebook undertook the effort and expense 

to build the infrastructure, support teams, and partnerships necessary to offer payment 

                                                 
21 Plaintiff also has no right to sell its services on Facebook’s website.  See Trinko, 540 U.S. at 
408; see also LiveUniverse, Inc. v. MySpace, Inc., 304 F. App’x 554, 557 (9th Cir. 2008) 
(dismissing Section 2 claims based on MySpace disabling links to other social networking 
websites on MySpace.com despite allegations that it reduced consumer choice). 
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processing.  Facebook did so because the July 2011 Policy not only helped monetize the platform 

but also improved and simplified the user payment experience.  In particular, the July 2011 

Policy was intended to:  

• Enable frictionless payments and consistent payment flow: Before implementation of the July 
2011 Policy, a player had to enter her payment information before making a purchase each 
time she played a new game by a different developer.  This “friction” discouraged users from 
making in-game purchases.  The checkout process and payment options also differed across 
games, creating additional confusion.  The 2011 Policy reduced this friction by creating a 
single, centralized payments interface for games on Facebook.com.  See supra at 7-8.  

• Trusted payment provider and privacy concerns: Before the July 2011 Policy, Facebook 
users felt less comfortable giving out their payment information to unknown game 
developers or third party payment processors.  Facebook also learned that some game 
developers and other third parties shared Facebook users’ personal data without their 
consent.  The July 2011 Policy let users make all in-game purchases on Facebook.com 
through Facebook, a trusted payment provider, and helped protect Facebook users’ privacy 
by restricting access to a user’s sensitive financial information.  See supra at 7-8. 

• Enable Facebook to respond to customer complaints: Before Facebook’s July 2011 Policy, 
some users wrongly assumed that Facebook was responsible for payments on Facebook.com 
and blamed it for any problems. After adopting the policy, Facebook was better able to 
resolve complaints and improve the payment experience for all users.  See supra at 7-8.   

Facebook also believed that improvements to the payment flow would increase users’ 

willingness to purchase virtual goods in games on Facebook.com, which would benefit 

developers.22  Facebook was concerned that poor user experiences, see supra at 6-8, could cause 

users to spend less time on the Platform or leave altogether, see, e.g., Ex. 17; Crook ¶¶ 110-11, 

130, 134.  Improving a product in response to user concerns is both economically rationale and 

procompetitive.23  These legitimate business justifications are supported by undisputed evidence 

                                                 
22 As a former Zynga executive testified:  “One of the benefits that came out [of using Facebook 
Credits exclusively] was improved conversion…the likelihood of the [customer] transaction 
completing was higher with Facebook Credits than it had been with our other providers.”  Ex. 
12, at 38. 
23 For example, Cyber Promotions, Inc. v. Am. Online, Inc., 948 F. Supp. 456, 462 (E.D. Pa. 
1996), held that AOL did not violate Section 2 by blocking a competitor’s e-mail advertisements 
where its “legitimate business justifications … includ[ed] … numerous complaints … from its 
(continued…) 
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and defeat Social Ranger’s Section 2 claims as a matter of law.  See Race Tires Am., Inc., 614 

F.3d at 83; Trans Sport, Inc. v. Starter Sportswear, Inc., 964 F.2d 186, 188-89 (2d Cir. 1992) 

(legitimate business justifications for alleged anticompetitive behavior “prevent a rational trier of 

fact from finding § 2 liability.”). 

3. Facebook’s Decision to Partner With Trusted Offer Ad Providers Was 
Proper 

The July 2011 Policy also required that certain offer ads be served to Facebook users by 

one of Facebook’s pre-approved providers.  This policy only applied to offer ads that (1) 

requested personal identifying information or (2) rewarded a user in virtual currency.  See supra 

at 9 & note 7.  Facebook chose its initial offer ad provider—TrialPay—through a competitive 

process in which Super Rewards itself participated.  See supra at 9.  Thereafter, Facebook 

approved SuperSonic Ads and DealUnited.  Id.  Facebook’s agreements with TrialPay, 

SuperSonic Ads, and DealUnited and the July 2011 Policy did not harm competition and were 

motivated by legitimate business reasons to protect Facebook’s users and its reputation. 

Facebook’s partnership with TrialPay and other offer ad providers did not harm 

competition in any relevant market for offer ads in social games.  Plaintiff’s attempt to 

characterize Facebook’s deal with TrialPay as “exclusive,” Frankel Op. ¶ 58, is both factually 

wrong and legally irrelevant.  As the agreement itself makes clear, it was “nonexclusive,” and 

Facebook approved two other providers—SuperSonic Ads and DealUnited.  Ex. 28, at 10; supra 

at 9.   

                                                 
subscribers, the technical burden the … advertisements cause … and the fact that Cyber does not 
pay AOL any fee whatsoever to carry Cyber’s e-mail.”  See also Sambreel Holdings LLC. v. 
Facebook, Inc., 906 F. Supp. 2d 1070, 1078 (S.D. Cal. 2012) (“Facebook’s ability to maintain 
the quality of its product is surely a legitimate justification for maintaining a list of approved 
Advertising Partners, and ensuring that such partners adhere to Facebook’s requirements.”). 
 

Case 1:14-cv-01525-LPS   Document 258   Filed 02/03/17   Page 33 of 43 PageID #: 7123



 27 

But even if Facebook had only approved a single provider, and given that provider an 

“exclusive” deal, it would have been entitled to do so.  As this court has explained, “[e]xclusivity 

agreements are generally permissible and are ‘presumptively legal,’…especially…where the 

exclusive provider is chosen through a competitive process[.]”  CAE Inc. v. Gulfstream 

Aerospace Corp., No. CV 15-924-LPS, 2016 WL 4497057, at *5 (D. Del. Aug. 26, 2016); see 

also ZF Meritor, LLC v. Eaton Corp., 696 F.3d 254, 270 (3d Cir. 2012).  Here, Super Rewards 

participated in that competitive process, was not selected on the merits, but was free to reapply at 

any time.  See supra at 9.  Thus, even if Facebook’s deal with TrialPay was exclusive, it did not 

harm competition.  See Race Tires Am., Inc., 614 F.3d at 83 (“It is well established that 

competition among businesses to serve as an exclusive supplier should actually be 

encouraged.”).24  As explained above, offer ad providers remain free to compete (and do 

compete today) on platforms off of Facebook.com—which represents over 80% of the virtual 

currency transactions in social games.  See infra at 34; supra at 5. 

Moreover, limiting who could serve offer ads on Facebook.com served the legitimate 

business purpose discussed above:  improving the user experience.  Facebook understood that the 

user experience was central to its success.  So when it discovered that some offer ad providers 

(including Super Rewards) were serving its users scammy offer ads, it took steps to prevent those 

ads from degrading the overall user experience.  See supra at 6.  Monitoring all offer ads would 

                                                 
24 For these same reasons, Facebook’s agreements with some developers to use Facebook’s 
payment processing on Facebook.com are not anticompetitive as a matter of law.  Given that 
Facebook’s broader policies were lawful, bilateral agreements with individual developers that 
included similar provisions also were lawful. 
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have been difficult.25  Facebook thus allowed only a limited number of pre-approved providers 

that Facebook had vetted to serve offer ads to games on Facebook.com.  See, e.g., Ex. 38; Ex. 39; 

Ex. 3, at 111-12.  Protecting and improving the user experience in this way is indisputably a 

legitimate business justification.  See, e.g., Cyber Promotions, Inc., 948 F. Supp. at 462; Trans 

Sport, Inc., 964 F.2d at 190 (finding that “to better identify and combat counterfeit Starter 

goods” was a legitimate business justification for a policy). 

*          *          * 

In sum, none of Facebook’s challenged conduct violates Section 2 as a matter of law.  

None of it allowed Facebook to obtain a monopoly or otherwise harm competition in a relevant 

market for virtual currency services for social games.  Moreover, Facebook had legitimate 

business justifications for its actions that are supported by undisputed evidence.26   

D. Plaintiff’s Attempted Monopolization Claim Fails as a Matter of Law 

For its attempted monopolization claim, Plaintiff must show that Facebook “(1) had 

specific intent to monopolize the relevant market, (2) engaged in anti-competitive or 

exclusionary conduct, and (3) possessed a sufficient market power to come dangerously close to 

success.”  Barr Labs., Inc., 978 F.2d at 112.  Among other problems, Facebook’s less than 15% 

share of the virtual currency transactions in social games and the volume of such transactions on 

                                                 
25 For example, to avoid detection some offer ad providers used techniques such as “cloaking” 
(also known as “geoblocking”) to show a different ad to Facebook employees located in 
California than it published to Facebook users located elsewhere.  See Ex. 17; Ex. 4, at 134-35. 
26 Facebook’s conduct was also “fairly necessary” to achieve its legitimate goal of a safe, 
consistent, and frictionless user experience across the Platform.  Am. Motor Inns, Inc. v. Holiday 
Inns, Inc., 521 F.2d 1230, 1248–49 (3d Cir. 1975).  Facebook is not required to show that it 
could not have achieved its goals in a different way.  See Behrend v. Comcast Corp, No. CIV.A. 
03-6604, 2012 WL 1231794, at *23–24 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 12, 2012) (that the defendant could have 
achieved the sought efficiencies differently was insufficient to defeat summary judgment).  
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mobile platforms precludes a finding that it has a dangerous probability of monopolizing a 

market for virtual currency services.  “As a matter of law, a market share of less than 30 percent 

is presumptively insufficient to establish the market power that is a prerequisite to a defendant’s 

enjoying a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power.”  ID Sec. Sys. Canada, Inc. v. 

Checkpoint Sys., Inc., 249 F. Supp. 2d 622, 648 (E.D. Pa. 2003); see also Jefferson Parish Hosp. 

Dist. No. 2 v. Hyde, 466 U.S. 2, 26 n.43 (1984). 

Nor did Facebook have a dangerous probability of monopolizing the virtual currency 

service market in 2011.  Indeed, we know that thereafter virtual currency transactions on mobile 

platforms grew much faster than transactions on Facebook.com.  The lack of any meaningful 

barriers to entry, even in 2011, dooms Plaintiff’s claim.  See Barr Labs., 978 F.2d at 114 

(evidence of “continued entry of competition, albeit with small initial market share,” showed that 

defendant “ha[d] no reasonable probability of success in any attempt to monopolize.”).  

E. Plaintiff’s Tying Claim Fails as a Matter of Law 

Plaintiff alleges that Facebook impermissibly tied virtual currency services to its “social 

game network.”  Compl. ¶¶ 174-75.  The alleged tying product—the supposed “social game 

network”—consists of access to Facebook’s social graph and Facebook’s distribution services on 

Facebook.com.  Plaintiff’s claim fails under either of the rules applicable to tying claims.     

1. Plaintiff’s Tying Claim Fails Under the Per Se Rule 

Plaintiff’s tying claim should be analyzed under the rule of reason (discussed below) 

because “the nature of the platform software market affirmatively suggests that per se rules 

might stunt valuable innovation.”27  United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 92 (D.C. Cir. 

                                                 
27 Like Microsoft, this case concerns design choices of a platform owner in an innovative 
industry, rendering the per se rule inappropriate.  Alleged ties in this dynamic market do not 
“fall[] into the category of agreements or practices which because of their pernicious effect on 
(continued…) 
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2001).  But its claim fails even under the per se rule, which requires that “(1) a defendant seller 

ties two distinct products; (2) the seller possesses market power in the tying product market; and 

(3) a substantial amount of interstate commerce is affected.”  Id. at 477.  The undisputed 

evidence demonstrates that Facebook has not tied access to its social graph to purchase of its 

payment-related services and that Facebook lacks market power in the distribution of social 

games.   

First, games distributed off of Facebook.com can access Facebook’s social graph for free 

using Facebook Login and without using Facebook’s payment processing services (which are not 

available off of Facebook.com).  Frankel Op. ¶ 48 (“Facebook did not charge developers who 

accessed the Facebook social graph through Facebook Connect . . . .”); see also Ex. 15.  As the 

Supreme Court has explained, “where the buyer is free to take either product by itself there is no 

tying problem.” N. Pac. Ry. Co. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1, 6 n.4 (1958); see also Avaya Inc., 

RP v. Telecom Labs, Inc., 838 F.3d 354, 408 (3d Cir. 2016); Ungar v. Dunkin' Donuts of Am., 

Inc., 531 F.2d 1211, 1226 (3d Cir. 1976). 

Plaintiff argues that access to Facebook’s social graph through Login should be 

disregarded because it is inadequate.  Grant Reply ¶ 101.  But Plaintiff cannot dispute that social 

games on other platforms, including mobile platforms, have grown far more rapidly than the 

same games on Facebook.com, as measured by in-app purchases.  See Carlton Tbl. 1.  

Developers thus have whatever access they may need to successfully distribute their games on 

other platforms. 

                                                 
competition and lack of any redeeming virtue are conclusively presumed to be unreasonable.” 
Nw. Wholesale Stationers, Inc. v. Pac. Stationery and Printing Co., 472 U.S. 284, 289 (1985).   
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Second, while Facebook integrated payment processing into its distribution platform,  it 

has no market power in distribution services for social games given that the iOS and Android 

platforms account for the large majority of social game activity.  Facebook accounts for less than 

15% of virtual currency transactions on these platforms.  Further, Apple and Google’s 30% 

revenue share constrained the rate Facebook could charge.  See supra at 9;  see also Town Sound, 

959 F.2d at 480 (“Chrysler’s pricing is constrained by the price that its competitors charge for 

comparable automobiles.”).  Absent market power in the tying product, Plaintiff’s claim fails.  

Brokerage Concepts, Inc. v. U.S. Healthcare, Inc., 140 F.3d 494, 512–13 (3d Cir. 1998) (For a 

per se tying claim to exist, “the seller must possess market power in the tying product market.”).  

Finally, Plaintiff cannot show that the game developers were “coerced” into using 

Facebook’s payment-related services.  These developers had alternative means of both 

distributing games and accessing Facebook’s social network.  See id. at 511 (“The antitrust 

concern over tying arrangements arises when the seller can exploit its market power in the tying 

market to force buyers to purchase the tied product which they otherwise would not.”).28   

2. Plaintiff’s Tying Claim Fails Under the Rule of Reason 

Under a rule of reason analysis, the plaintiff must establish that “the alleged combination 

or agreement produced adverse, anti-competitive effects within the relevant product and 

geographic markets.”  United States v. Brown Univ., 5 F.3d 658, 668 (3d Cir. 1993). 

                                                 
28   Indeed, testimony of a former Zynga executive contradicts the claim that Facebook “coerced” 
Zynga to use Facebook Credits.  See Ex. 12, at 29-30, 78-81; Compl ¶ 86; see also Rome 
Ambulatory Surgical Ctr., LLC v. Rome Mem'l Hosp., Inc., 349 F. Supp. 2d 389, 408 (N.D.N.Y. 
2004) (dismissing tying claim where record demonstrated that contracts resulted from 
negotiation). 
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Plaintiff’s tying claim under that rule fails for the same reasons its monopolization and 

attempted monopolization claims fail; Plaintiff lacks any evidence of anti-competitive effect in a 

market for virtual currency services for social games.  See supra V.B.   

F. Plaintiff Cannot Establish Harm to Competition in the Market As a Whole 
and Therefore Lacks Both Antitrust Injury and Standing 

Plaintiff bases its claims that Facebook engaged in anticompetitive conduct on alleged 

harm to developers, Frankel Op. ¶ 121; Ex. 8, at 64, and on its alleged lost sales.  As explained 

below, neither fact, even if true, would establish the “anticompetitive effects in the market as a 

whole” necessary to support an antitrust claim.  Eichorn v. AT & T Corp., 248 F.3d 131, 148 (3d 

Cir. 2001), as amended (June 12, 2001). 

1. Plaintiff Has Failed to Demonstrate Anticompetitive Effects on Both Sides 
of the Two-Sided Facebook Marketplace 

The Facebook platform is a two-sided marketplace that serves two sets of customers:  

Facebook users and developers.  See, e.g., Ex. 8, at 39-41.  As explained by the Second Circuit in 

United States v. American Express, determining anticompetitive effects in such marketplaces 

requires consideration of effects “on the relevant market ‘as a whole.’”  838 F.3d 179, 204-05 

(2d Cir. 2016) (“Amex”).  Specifically, after finding that the relevant market included Amex’s 

services to both merchants and cardholders, the Second Circuit rejected the “District Court’s 

conclusion that ‘[p]roof of anticompetitive harm to merchants, the primary consumers of 

American Express’s network services, is sufficient.”  Id. at 196-97, 204.29  Plaintiffs were 

required to “consider the two-sided net price accounting for the effects of the [challenged 
                                                 
29 Social Ranger must establish anticompetitive effects in the entire relevant market before the 
burden shifts to Facebook to show pro-competitive justifications.  See Amex, 838 F.3d at 205 
(“Whether the NDPs had pro-competitive effects on cardholders—let alone whether any alleged 
procompetitive effects on cardholders outweigh ‘anticompetitive’ effects on merchants—has no 
bearing on whether Plaintiffs carried their initial burden under the rule-of-reason analysis to 
show anticompetitive effects on the relevant market ‘as a whole.’”). 
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provisions] on both merchants and cardholders,” including quality improvements “equivalent to 

a price decrease” on cardholders.  Id. at 202-04.  Because the plaintiffs “erroneously elevated the 

interests of merchants above those of cardholders,” they failed to demonstrate anticompetitive 

effects.  Id. at 204-05.     

Here, Plaintiff focuses solely on “only one half of the pertinent equation”—alleged harm 

to developers.  Id. at 202.  See, e.g., Ex. 8, at 64 (“Q.  So your conclusion is based on the fact that 

developers found it to not be a net economic win, correct?  A.  Yes.”).30  Like the plaintiffs in 

Amex, Plaintiff has not adequately considered the effects of Facebook’s conduct  on the other 

half of the equation—Facebook users.31  Plaintiff has not shown that Facebook’s July 2011 

Policy “made all [] consumers on both sides of the platform . . . worse off overall.”  Amex, 838 

F.3d at 205.  Having “erroneously elevated the interests of the” game developers “above those 

of” Facebook users, Social Ranger has failed as a matter of law to satisfy its burden to establish 

anticompetitive effects in “the relevant market as a whole.”  Id. at 204-05.32 

2. Plaintiff’s Alleged Loss of Sales Is Insufficient to Show Harm to 
Competition for Virtual Currency Services As a Whole 

Plaintiff’s claim that its business was harmed by the policies at issue fails to establish 

harm to competition in a virtual currency services market as a whole.  See Brunswick Corp. v. 

Pueblo Bowl–O–Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977) (the antitrust laws protect harm to 

competition, not harm to a competitor); Precision Surgical, Inc., v. Tycho Intern., Ltd., 111 F. 

Supp. 2d 586, 589 (E.D. Pa. 2000) (“Vertical integration by the monopolist may deprive a former 
                                                 
30 Because Social Ranger is not a developer, it cannot assert claims based on harm to developers. 
31 See, e.g., Carlton ¶¶ 25-40 (discussing the benefits from the July 2011 Policy to users). 
32 Dr. Frankel also concedes that social game activity has increased since 2011, see Ex. 8, at 59, 
171-73, which also undermines any claimed anticompetitive effects.  See Amex, 838 F.3d at 207 
(“given evidence showing that the quality and output of credit cards across the entire industry 
continues to increase, … Plaintiffs failed to carry their burden to prove” competitive harm).  
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supplier or customer of a trading partner. . .but this injury is no more an injury to competition 

when a monopolist integrates than when a competitor integrates.”).   

The undisputed evidence shows continued competition both for payment processing 

services and incentivized advertising for social games.  See supra 5 (VCS on Apple and Google); 

Crook App’x 3 (many other platforms allow incentivized advertising); Crook Fig. 13 (TapJoy, 

formerly known as Offerpal, provides incentivized ads on mobile platforms); Grant Op. ¶ 241 

(RockYou provides incentivized video ads on Facebook.com and other platforms); Ex. 35, at 8 

(showing Super Rewards competing against four offer wall providers on TopEleven.com); Ex. 

11, at 27-30; Ex. 57, at 70, 82-83, 85, 125.  Indeed, the Super Rewards business (now sold to 

another company) operates today, “offer[ing] payment solutions and offerwalls for apps, games, 

and websites.”  Ex. 54.  Facebook faces vigorous competition from Apple, Google, and other 

platforms and payment services that provide far more virtual currency services for social games 

than Facebook.  Accordingly, Plaintiff cannot show the required antitrust injury.33  

VI. CONCLUSION 

 For all of the reasons set forth above, Plaintiff’s antitrust claims fail and Facebook seeks 

judgment in its favor. 

                                                 
33 Moreover, whether a plaintiff has antitrust standing to recover damages is determined by 
multiple factors that all weigh against Plaintiff.  See In re Modafinil Antitrust Litig., 837 F.3d 
238, 263 (3d. Cir. 2016).  “The ‘directness of injury’ is ‘the focal point by which the remainder 
of the . . . factors are guided.”  Id.  Plaintiff’s asserted injuries are indirect and derivative of harm 
allegedly suffered by game developers.  Any impact on Plaintiff was incidental, and there would 
be issues of duplicative recovery between developers and Plaintiff.  
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